HEREFORDSHIRE

The Village of

EARDISLAND

OVER & hundred years ago ~ in - 1851 =~ Lascelles Directory of
Herefordshire describes our village thus: "Eardisland or
Rardsland, a small pleasant village distant five miles West
from Leominster, the river Arrow running through, over which
is a ncat stone bridge, giving a pleasing effect to the
village." The same description serves to-day, and lovers

of black-and-white villages consider Eardisland one of the
prettiest in England.

Less than a hundred years ago there were more houses,
including an Inn (!The Crown'), Bast of the wvillage on the
road to Leominster, but these have fallen into decay and of
gsome no trace is left. West of “the river, on the road to
Kington, there are new houses, including nineteen Council
houses built of brilck and occupled this year, 1955. The
Kington to Leominster Railway runs through part of the Parish,
and the Roman road, Watling Street, forms the Parish boundary

on the East side. .x For o M‘, % \t“_?‘uu\ Aouse Yoew s eae 11,

on thev SOuthside of the road near the bridge stands the
Gourt House Farm {Mr. B.’ ﬁowe), and behind this is an ancient
mound surrounded by a moat and crowned with trees. On an
old map of the Court House Farm this mound is named !'The
Fortress!, and it is thought to have been the site of a
Sexon habitation or stronghold, and to have been surmounted’
by a paliasade. About thirty years ago, when the moat was
drained and cleared of mud several 'mud-oyster! shells,
measucring about six inches by one-gnd-a=-half inches, were
found., To the North, in the field known as 'Monks'! Court?,
is a small secondary mound. Both imounds are scheduled as

anclent monuments, as are several Houses in the village.,
\

In the centre of the village the early Eighteenth
Century Plgeon house in the garden of the old Manor House
is a feature; another good Pigeonhouse is to be found at
Rurton gourt.

The bridge over the Arrow was built in 1800 by John
Gethin of Kingsland. The roads at that t ime and for many
vyears afterwards were narrow and rough, and the bridge must
have been qulte adequate for the horse-drawn vehicles of
the time. However, as motor traffic developed, and
especially when lorriesz and buses came into general use,
the bridge over the river and the adjoining one over the
Mill stream made something of a bottle neck. The screaming
of brakes as cars met on the bridge was often heard, and
sometimes there were collisions. There was much talk of
widening the bridge: some were for and some against this,
those against saying that a new bridge would spoil the beauty
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of the village.

Finally, one Swmmer evening a convoy or heavy Artillery,
eonsisting mainly or 15 mm. guns and their carriages and
manned by Americans, came through. The oridge was only a
very few inches wider than the vehicles, and these often
had to back and start again before they hit the centre of
the road and got over. It took more than an hour for
the. convoy to get through, and when it had passed the
bridge was in a very battered condition, with coping stones
off, stones loose, and much scratched and shaken. In 1945
it was widened by the Counby Surveyor, Mr. , who made
an excellent job of it by using the old stones Yor facing
and coping.

It is s=2id that the name of the river Arrow (AARWY)
means 'overflowing', and it certainly lives up to itg name
with fairly frequent floodings, many of a minor character,
but there have been several big ones causing the flooding
of houses and roads and cutting the village off. 0f these,
1888, 1922 and 1947 were the most outstanding.

The January numbeor of the Leominster Deanery Maiazine
contains a description of the Lawn Tennis Ball, held at
Bardisland on Dec. 27th, 1883. "The dance, attended by
upwards of 60 members and friends, was a Very pleasant and
successful one, and everything went 'merry ss a marriage
bell! until nvarly 3 in the . morning, when a wamming message
was brought to the stewards thet unless the company quickly
dispersed there would be gpeat difficulty in getting away.
Owing to heavy rain, a very high flood had risen - not an-
uncommon ocgurrence in Eardisland - and the roads from the
Schoolroom were almost impassable. Very soon 1t was f ound.
that the carriages and cabs could not be driven through the
- flooded roadway, so an omnibus which had brought a party
from Loominster was kindly allowed to be put in requisition,
and the visitors were thus conveyed in different parties to
their conveyances in the village. No harm was experienced
except in some cases of wet shoes, but there was plenty of
merriment at the time and has beoen since in talking over the
unlocked~-for dilemma which will maske the Lawn Tennis Ball of
1888 long memorsble.”

During the 1929 flood, when many houses were flooded,
trout which had been put in the year before to stock the
river were scooped up in a bucket on the adjoining fields.

A gauge at Riversdale showed a rise of six feeb above security
level, and the blg flood in March 1947 (when the same gauge
showed five feet seven and a half inches above Summer level},
followed very heavy rain and gales and was accentuated by

the gquick meltings of s late fall of gsnow on the hills.

A1l the houses along the river bank, with the exception of
Riversdale, were inundated, as well as others in the low-
lying parts of the village. A maid at Arrow Bank complained
bitterly of having found s trout in the kitchen sink. Ths
gale blew down a number of trees, including one across the
road to Pembridge which, combined with the flood water,
blocked that road for several days. Another crashed onto
the transformer in Broom Lane, and part of the village was
without electricity and telephone ror ten days. The people
whose homes had becn flooded received gifts of food, cleaning
materials, coconot matting and blankets from Australiag
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: #hese wore distributed by the W.V.S., =

After the 1914-18 War the Tugg Drainage Board was set
up with the allsged object of providing work for ex-Service
meni, to clear the river of obstructions and allow the water
to run down more quickly. Some think this haes been
effective in decreasing the amount of flooding, but owing
to the level of the land it cannot be wholly so. The rate
charged on some properties for this service is considerable.

Near the Court House Farm, on the South side of the
road, stands the War Memorial Cross, designed by Capt. A.B.W.
Greenhough, M.C., of the Staick House. The cost was £208,
and the amount was ralsed locally by subscription. 'The
Cross was dedicated on Sunday March 14th 1920 by the Viear,
the Revd. P.A.H. Birley, and a sermon was preacheqd by the
Revd. F.W. Worsey, a former Viear of Eardisland, at a service
in the Church beforehand. The land on which the Cross
stands was given by Mr. Henry Gittens of the Court House, and
was conveyed to the Parish Council in June 1920. In 1931 a
sum was ralsed and invested by the Parish Council to provide
2 pérmanent income for the upkeep of the Cross,

To celebrate the Coronation of Her Majesty Queen
Elisabeth II two seats were placed, one on either side of
the Memorial, and a flagstaff was erescted.

Just past.the Memoria¥ Cross, on the North side of the.
road, stands the old Smithy and the adjoining little red
brick building which Mr. Morris, who was the village black-
smith for many years - and a very skilled one - used ag g
shop for his bicyeles, ete. Mr. Morris was followed as
blacksmith by Mr. Rooke, who carried on the trade until 1930
when he gave up and the Smithy fell into disuse. The red
brick building was used during the late War by the Home
Guard as their Headguarters, and is now being used by the
British Red Cross as & First Aid Loans Depot. In 1944
lirs. Clowes of Burton Court took a lease of the Smithy from
the owners, the John Leviclk Trust, and converted it into a
useful room with the ides of its being used as a Women's
Institute room. It wss also used by the Men's Club from
1946 until the Glub closed down in 1949. It is now rented
by Eardisland Women's Institute, . R

There were originally thres mills in the Parish: one
at Glan Arrow, one at Lower Burton, and one situated in the
centre of the village. The latter was the last to be used
and was grinding corn up to 1950. The mill was also used
during the war years as a store for grain snd cattle cake.
Now the grinding machinsry has been removed to make more
room, and the building is used solely for storing grain, ete.
by the tenants, Foster Bros. of Leominster, Most farmers
now have thelr own ¢lectrically-driven Hemmer mills.

The Grid system was introduced into the village in May
1931 by the Shropshire, Worcestershire & Staffordshire
Blectric Power Co., and since nationalisation is run by the
Midlends u@leetricity Board. 8o far all the outlying hamletg,

farms end cottages are without slectricity.
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During the last twenty years or so the character of the
Village has somewhat changed, With the death of Mrs. Clowes
in 1949 came the closing of Burton CQourt and the loss of an
almost feudal influence in the village. The estate was
broken up, and all the farms were bought by the tenant
Farmers. The walled kitchen garden and the gardensr's
cottage, together with ten acres of land, were sold separately
and are at present run commercelally as a Market Garden.

Several cottages in the village, formerly occupied by
families employed on the land, have been sold and modernised
end turned into iresidences! which are occupied either by .
retired people or by those who get their living further
afield. In this way old cottages, which might otherwise
have fallen into decay, have been saved for the village,
and the much-needed Council houses have taken the place of
some of the old cottages snd provided accommodation for
young families previously crowded in with their Vin-laws?.
Thus in the long run we may check the drift to the towns,
and at the same time reap the benefits of a more varied
cross-section of society, .



